Using AlgoTraffic Data to Improve Traffic Incident Management

Final Report to

The Alabama Department of Transportation

SPR 930-967

Prepared by

Alex Hainen

Naima Islam

Margaret McNamara

Steven Jones

Randy Smith

University Transportation Center for Alabama

Department of Civil, Construction, and Environmental Engineering

The University of Alabama

P O Box 870205

Tuscaloosa, AL 35487

ahainen@ua.edu

Office: 205-348-3139

Fax: 205-348-6862

August 31, 2020

Contents

Project Background	4
Organization of this Report	5
Tasks for the Incident Analysis	6
Tasks for the Traffic Ticker and Delta Speed Map Dashboards	6
Data Sources	7
HERE Speed Data	7
Speed Subsegments	9
Data Storage and Access	11
HPMS Volume Data	12
RTMC Incident Data	12
Data Conflation	14
Data Dashboards	16
Traffic Ticker	17
Case Study – The University of Alabama vs Louisiana State University (11/9/19)	
Delta Speed Map Dashboard	21
Case Study – The University of Alabama vs Louisiana State University (11/9/19)	21
FHWA EDC Presentation and Interest	24
Incident Analysis	25
Speed Differential Mile Hours	25
SDMH Tool	27
Modeling Incident Duration and Assessing Incident Clearance Times	
Goals and Objectives	
Data	
Methodology	
Results	
Discussion	
Incident characteristics	
Temporal characteristics	
Traffic characteristics	
Operational characteristics	38
Incident Analysis Conclusions	

Project Conclusions	. 40
References	.41
Appendix A – Slides from FHWA EDC-5 Vehicle Probe Data Peer Exchange	. 43

List of Figures

Figure 1 First Regional Traffic Management Center in West Central Region
Figure 2 Iteris iPeMS dashboard showing example historical speed information
Figure 3 Sample XML feed of live HERE data7
Figure 4 HERE Bulk Data Download8
Figure 5 HERE Data Segmentation9
Figure 6 SQL retrieval of HERE bulk data (highlighted rows showing dynamic subsegmentation)
Figure 7 Sample RTMC data as it's being handled in the ATMS13
Figure 8 Conflation example where two different linear systems feature different break points
Figure 9 West Central RTMC speed dashboard (upper right) in existing ATMS16
Figure 10 Prototype traffic ticker
Figure 11 Traffic ticker (all freeways, all regions, varying congestion thresholds by speed)
Figure 12 Traffic ticker (all freeways, grouped by region, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)
Figure 13 Traffic ticker (West Central Region only, all freeways, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 19
Figure 14 Traffic ticker (all regions grouped by freeway & direction congestion threshold set at 45 mph)
ingure in realistic during solution of the second
20
Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)
Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20
Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs
Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)
Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) Prigure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs
Figure 17 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs 21 Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential 22 Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential 22 Figure 19 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential 23
Figure 11 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs 21 Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential 22 Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential 22 Figure 19 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential 23 Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: looking at speed differential detail data
Figure 11 Hume taker (unregions) grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph) 20 Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs 21 Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential 22 Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential 22 Figure 19 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential 23 Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: looking at speed differential detail data 23 Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work 24
Figure 11 Hume tokel (unregions) grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs21Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential22Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential23Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential23Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work24Figure 22 SDMH tool showing an example incident with an SDMH score of 8101.8
Figure 11 Hume teach (unregions) grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs21Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential22Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential23Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential23Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work24Figure 23 Phases of Incident Duration28
Figure 11 Humanic tenter (un regions) grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs21Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential22Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential23Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential23Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work24Figure 23 Phases of Incident Duration28Figure 24 Flowchart of Data Processing.
Figure 11 Hume tester (an regions) grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)20Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs21Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential22Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential23Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential23Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work24Figure 23 Phases of Incident Duration28Figure 24 Flowchart of Data Processing.31Figure 25 Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol Area Coverage.32

List of Tables

Table 1 Subsegment Speed Example	10
Table 2 Sample RTMC incident data	12
Table 3 Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity estimation results for incident clearance time	35

Project Background

Traffic crashes are key contributors to non-recurrent congestion. The Federal Highway Administration estimated that Traffic Incident Management (TIM) efforts in the USA are credited with reducing annual delay by 129.9 million hours with an associated cost savings of \$2.5 billion (U.S. Department of Transportation. Federal Highway Administration, Dec 2008). Traffic incidents are frequent and life-threatening to motorists and responders, particularly secondary crashes. A secondary crash is one which occurs at the tail end of a queue caused by an initial event, such as a crash or construction. Despite the fact that traffic crashes are heavy contributors to non-recurrent congestion, the interface between crashes, incidents, and congestion has not been fully explored in context with new data sources.

Over the past few years, ALDOT has taken a transportation systems management and operations (TSMO) approach to manage intelligent transportation system (ITS) assets and monitor congestion across their road network. Regional Traffic Management Centers (RTMCs) have been established in four of the five regions to monitor data and information from a newly developed ALGO Traffic web interface. The ALGO Traffic platform provides real-time feeds for cameras, speed sensors, and other pieces of infrastructure. This platform and data are used by RTMC operators to monitor and log crashes and other various types of incidents (disabled vehicles, construction, queues, etc.). The University of Alabama (UA) through the Center for Advanced Public Safety (CAPS) has recently begun working on phase-II of the ALGO Traffic Platform, which will continue to add functionality for TMC operators.



Figure 1 First Regional Traffic Management Center in West Central Region

Also, in an effort to monitor congestion, ALDOT currently purchases state-wide crowdsourced mobility data from HERE. These data are included in the ALGO Traffic Platform for real-time speed observation, and in Iteris iPeMS / ClearGuide. The data are also continuously collected and stored and can be used to generate performance metrics that provide a stronger quantitative assessment of mobility. These metrics will enable Alabama to meet compliance with a recent FHWA ruling that supports the Fixing America's Surface Transportation (FAST) Act by measuring and assessing system performance (Federal Highway Administration, 2017).



Figure 2 Iteris iPeMS dashboard showing example historical speed information

To further leverage the benefits of both the ALGO Traffic incident data and the state-wide HERE data, these datasets have been synthesized together to understand factors affecting safety and congestion. Each incident has been collected and documented in the ALGO Traffic platform for quantification based on its impact to traffic flow using the crowdsourced mobility data. By looking at the incident type, location, response, and other variables, improvements to traffic safety and congestion can be considered.

Organization of this Report

Following the above background and introduction, the tasks of the project are reviewed in the next section. There are two main groups of tasks: (1) incident analysis and (2) dashboards for presenting the speed data. The second task group was conducted first to setup the data storage and retrieval processes. The data component for this project is very key and described after the tasks recap. After the data sources section, the dashboards are described, and a case study is shown for each. Finally, the incident analysis task group is discussed. The table of contents is a useful guide to follow each component.

Tasks for the Incident Analysis

- Gather Incident Data Incident data was gathered from the Center for Advanced Public Safety's (CAPS) Critical Analysis Reporting Environment (CARE). Also, other non-crash information that is stored by the Alabama Traffic Management Centers was collected. This was synthesized using modeling techniques.
- Generate Per-Incident Reports Each crash and incident has been quantified based on the mobility impact. Every incident is available here (<u>https://sdmh.aladata.com/</u>) and will be discussed in this report.
- 3. **Summarize Per-Incident Reports** Again, all crashes and incidents have been quantified, and the results have been used to identify and summarize significant factors.
- 4. Modeling of Mobility Impact from Incidents The crash and incident data were analyzed using duration models to determine key factors based on the attributes listed in each report. This allowed multiple factors to be considered simultaneously, providing additional insight beyond single-factor analysis.
- 5. **Interpretation and Write-Up of Model Findings** The significant parameters are discussed at the end of this report (and fully discussed in attached white paper).

Tasks for the Traffic Ticker and Delta Speed Map Dashboards

- Collecting TMC-level Shapefiles Shapefiles for TMC segments were obtained and sanitized to include only mainline interstate segments. These were joined with other data to classify what ALDOT region and county each segment lies in.
- Downloading Existing Speed Data The HERE bulk download interface was be used to download CSV files of historical speed data for the interstates. These data have been stored in a database that can be queried to provide the basis of the dashboards.
- 8. Livestream of Speed Data An automated service was developed to automatically download and import speed data into the database as it becomes available.
- 9. Preliminary Dashboard Integration with ALGO Traffic and ALGO Reports An interface based on the Traffic Ticker will be designed for Alabama and integrated into existing tools for ease of access (<u>https://reports.algotraffic.com/dashboard</u>). Information from ALGO Reports has been integrated with the Traffic Ticker view to streamline identification of the sources of congestion.
- Implement Live-Data Dashboard The Traffic Ticker dashboard uses the data accessed by the livestream automated service, allowing it to display the most up-to-date information available to ALDOT (<u>https://reports.algotraffic.com/here-charts</u>).
- 11. **Prototype Incident Report Generation Tool** The integration of traffic and incident data now creates automated incident reports that can summarize delay, queuing, and other traffic factors for after-action review (<u>https://sdmh.aladata.com/</u>).

Data Sources

The main sources of data for this project were speed data obtained from HERE and volume data obtained through Highway Performance Monitoring System (HPMS). This data was combined with crash data and TMC incident data for specific analyses.

HERE Speed Data

The speed data provided by HERE is reported every minute for stretches of road called Traffic Message Channels (TMCs), which can range in length from under a mile to several. These data are provided in a live XML feed (see Figure 3), which is downloaded and ingested into a database for use in reporting dashboards and other tools. These data are available from April 2018 onwards.



Figure 3 Sample XML feed of live HERE data

Archive data are available in the iPeMS bulk data download back to 2017. These data are available as a GZ files for each day. A stored procedure was created for ingesting and storing this data. The fields and example download interface are shown in Figure 4.

Type District HERE v3 Traffic Raw ✓ All Districts ✓ Submit	
J F M A M J J A S O N D 20 19 10	Data Summary This dataset is the here traffic mI samples. Months with data are indicated by a gray rectangle. Click a rectangle to view a listing of files available for download.
Field Specification	Available Files

Name	Comment	-
utc_time_id	Time UTC	
feed_id	Source data feed	
Roadway Type	Road class	
Linear Id		
fis_num		
source_id	The item being mapped (e.g. TMC Code)	
recv_time		
Total Length Km	Length of segment in km	
Offset Km	Subsegment offset relative to the start of the segment	
Subsegment Flag	Indicates whether this records belongs to the main segment (flag=0) or a subsegment (flag=1)	1
Subsegment Length Km	Length of sub-segment in km	
Point Code		
Queuing Direction		
Flow Item Type		
Current Avg Speed Capped	Average speed (km/h) that traffic is traveling capped to the speed limit	Ľ.
Current Avg Speed	Average speed (km/h) that traffic is traveling.	
Freeflow Speed	80th percentile of observed speeds during non-rush hour periods.	
Jam Factor	a number between 0 and 10	-

File Name	Bytes	<u></u>
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_01.txt.gz	322,438,463	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_02.txt.gz	346,095,351	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_03.txt.gz	351,064,059	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_04.txt.gz	331,352,786	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_05.txt.gz	325,195,230	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_06.txt.gz	350,724,848	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_07.txt.gz	354,715,597	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_08.txt.gz	354,142,695	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_09.txt.gz	354,326,675	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_10.txt.gz	350,689,410	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_11.txt.gz	320,274,660	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_12.txt.gz	323,057,753	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_13.txt.gz	351,880,468	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_14.txt.gz	354,068,329	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_15.txt.gz	353,574,688	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_16.txt.gz	354,944,743	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_17.txt.gz	356,612,207	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_18.txt.gz	332,015,511	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_19.txt.gz	322,412,683	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_20.txt.gz	342,488,915	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_21.txt.gz	364,297,278	
state_prov-AL_text_here_trafficml_raw_2020_01_22.txt.gz	358,143,824	
state and Al but have beefficient and 2020 of 22 but as	252 424 264	•

Figure 4 HERE Bulk Data Download

Speed Subsegments

One very challenging aspect with the HERE data is the dynamic subsegment data. Historically, TMC segments have been the standard segment regime used for reporting aggregated speed information. Usually, TMCs span between nodes on road networks. In urban areas, the distance between nodes I usually reasonable (0.25 mile to 1 mile). In rural areas, these TMCs can span several miles. Trying to detect incidents over these longer distances is challenging and vague.

To improve on this segmentation scheme, two different systems have been used: fixed subsegments and dynamic subsegments. With fixed subsegments, short (0.1 mile to 0.5 mile) segments are created to split TMCs into smaller stretches. For Alabama, there are approximately 10,000 TMC segments for the freeways. With fixed subsegments, this could be over 100,000 subsegments. Reporting for each subsegment produces a tremendous amount of information each minute. This is especially unnecessary when none of the fixed subsegments are significantly different from the parent TMC. With dynamics subsegments, TMCs can be split on-the-fly to report only portions of a TMC that vary significantly. This cuts down on the amount of data generated for each interval, but issues arise when each minute features a different segmentation.

The ways that HERE spatially segments the data are shown in Figure 5. The main segment is the TMC, shown at the top. These are usually several miles long, often broken at interchanges with a short segment between the on and off ramp. The next level is the LinkID, which are very small segments, often only a few hundred feet, which are available in the shapefiles. The third is the dynamic subsegments. This is how sub-TMC speeds are represented in the data. They are only used when the speed on a subsegment is substantially different from the average of the whole TMC. They are assigned dynamically, and as the two examples show, can change minute to minute in both length and number.



Figure 5 HERE Data Segmentation

Subsegments are made up of one or more LinkIDs, though they are not referred to in that manner in the XML document. They are instead defined by their offset from the beginning of the TMC and recorded in order with the flow of traffic. Therefore, the data for the segments in Figure 5 may look like Table 1, with the direction of travel being left-to-right. In this constructed example, the importance of subsegments can be seen in comparing the speed column, which is a weighted average for the TMC, with the subsegment speeds.

Timestamp	ТМС	Speed	Sub. Length	Sub. Speed
9:00	101+01559	61.5	0.6	65
9:00	101+01559	61.5	0.5	45
9:00	101+01560	65	0.3	45
9:00	101+01560	65	1.5	25
9:00	101+01560	65	0.2	70
9:00	101+01561	70	NULL	NULL
9:01	101+01559	52	0.4	60
9:01	101+01559	52	0.7	40
9:01	101+01560	57	0.3	35
9:01	101+01560	57	1.0	25
9:01	101+01560	57	0.5	15
9:01	101+01560	57	0.2	70
9:01	101+01561	70	NULL	NULL

Table 1 Subsegment Speed Example

Data Storage and Access

The data are stored in a SQL database with an ingestion process that adds new data as it becomes available. This allows for the dashboard tools and other users to query data in real-time. The HERE bulk data was stored in a Microsoft SQL Server database for easy retrieval. The database stores several billion records and has grown to several terabytes. A sample of the data is shown in Figure 6. In Figure 6, there are three rows highlighted showing the dynamic subsegmentation. The main TMC (row 5) has a measured average speed of 34.44997 mph (see the "speed" column of row 5). However, the average is a poor representation of the conditions on this 0.8235736 mile segment (note: the unreasonable number of significant digits is used for the reader to be able to connect this narrative with the data shown in Figure 6). The proprietary methods used by HERE split the TMC into two subsegments (row 6 and row 7). The first subsegment (row 6) is 0.5249348 miles long and has an average speed of 68.37166 mph. The following subsegment (row 7) is 0.3389435 miles long and has an average speed of 19.47172 mph. From this information, it would be reasonable to expect some anomaly at the 0.52 mile mark of this TMC. Additional information about this TMC (route, direction, etc.) would be available in another table to properly locate the specific location.

🎅 SQLQuery1.aql - coe-trafficsql.ua-net.ua.edu/SQL2017,48037.HEREMaggje (here (60)) Microsoft SQL Server Management Studio						
File Edit View Query Project Tools Window Help						
📄 🖸 🗸 🗇 🖓 🕶 📩 🖆 💾 🔐 🔒 New Query 🔑 😭 🔬	& ☆ 米 凸 ☆ ツ - ペ - 図 ♬ AMPK - □ / 幸 回					
🕂 🤫 HEREMaggie 🔹 🕨 Execute 🗉 🗸 😤	■ B ?? ?? # 周囲 D 耳 ™ ④ F ● -					
Object Explorer 👻 🖣 🗙	SQLQuery1.sql - coEMaggie (here (60))* + ×					
Connect - 🛱 🏋 🗮 🝸 🖒 🚸	1 /****** Script for SelectTopNRows command from SSMS ******/					
😑 🐻 coe-trafficsql.ua-net.ua.edu\SQL2017,48037 (SQL Server 14.0. 🔨	2 SELECT TOP (1000) [tstamp]					
😑 📁 Databases	3 ,[TMC]					
🗉 🛑 System Databases	4 [linear]					
Database Snapshots	F [iscul]					
HEREWaggie Database Diagrams	5 ,[15500]					
a Tables	6 ,[offset]					
🛞 📕 System Tables	7 ,[sub_len]					
🗉 💼 FileTables	8 [length]					
😥 💼 External Tables	9 [gueve dir]					
Graph Tables	10 [flow two]					
	10 ,[TIOW_Cype]					
B B dbo.InterstateRouteGeometry	11 ,[speed_cap]					
	12 ,[speed]					
	13 ,[ff speed]					
dbo.speeds	14 [jam factor]					
🖃 📁 Columns	15 [confidence]					
tstamp (datetime2(7), not null)						
TMC (nvarchar(12), not null)	16 FROM [HEREMaggie].[dbo].[speeds]					
inear (nvarchar(12), null)	17 WHERE tstamp >= '2020-01-01 08:00:00'					
E offset (real pull)						
sub_len (real, null)	144 %					
length (real, null)	III Results to Messages					
gueue_dir (nvarchar(1), null)	tatan TMC linear is Sub offset sub lan lanth rusus dir flow time snaad ran snaad if snaad iam fartor confide	lence				
flow_type (nvarchar(4), null)	1 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04362 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 2.795457 T TR 69:97514 69:97514 70.22374 0.03273462 0.98					
speed_cap (real, null)	2 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04363 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 3.590025 - TR 70.0435 72.0261 69.79491 0 0.9					
speed (real, null) ff speed (real, null)	3 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04364 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 0.8235736 - TR 60.28589 68.61404 60.28589 0 0.88					
am factor (real, null)	4 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04365 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 2.465805 - TR 60.28589 70.19267 60.28589 0 0.89					
confidence (real, null)	5 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04366 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 0.8638719 - TR 34.44997 34.44997 60.28589 3.469522 0.91					
🗉 📕 Keys	6 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04366 101+03001 0x01 0 0.5249348 0.8638719 - TR 60.28589 68.37166 60.28589 0 0.91					
Constraints	7 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04366 101+03001 0x01 0.5249348 0.3389435 0.8638719 - TR 19.47172 19.47172 60.28589 5.01409 0.91					
Triggers	8 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04367 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 0.144133 · TR 60.28589 69:5463 60:10566 0 0.88					
🗑 🧰 Indexes	9 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04368 101+03001 0x00 0 NULL 1619397 - TR 56.61902 61:35488 56.61902 0 0.75					
Statistics	10 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 0101-04369 0101-03001 0x00 0 NULL 0.04164/54 - 1R 44.30/02 44.30/02 44.44.29 0.0858/5/ 0.72					
B B dbo.TMC ATTR 2	12 2020101050035000000 010104370 010103004 000 0 0000 01000535 - TR 6536737 653673 7022374 003131020 0.83					
dbo.tmc_interstate_mms	12 20201010000330000000 0104037 0104000 0 0000 0 0000 0 0000 0 0000 0 0 0 0					
dbo.trip_times	14 2020-01-01 08:00-39 000000 101-04373 101-03004 400 0 NULL 200885 - TR 60 26589 68 38409 60 10566 0 0.85					
	15 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04374 101-03004 0x00 0 NULL 1.334537 - TR 60.28589 70.58421 60.28589 0 0.86					
	16 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04375 101+03004 0x00 0 NULL 1.103903 - TR 60.28589 71.73399 60.10566 0 0.88					
If dbo.volumes_old	T7 2020-01-01 08:00:39:0000000 101+04376 101+03004 0x00 0 NULL 1.441989 - TR 60.28589 60.41019 60.03107 0 0.92					
🛛 🔲 Views	18 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04377 101+03004 0x00 0 NULL 1.100584 - TR 56.37041 62.2747 56.37041 0 0.94					
Synonyms	19 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04378 101+03004 0x00 0 NULL 0.1171535 - TR 49.72032 60.75202 49.72032 0 0.93					
 Programmability 	20 2020-01-01 08:00:39.0000000 101+04379 101+03004 0x00 0 NULL 0.1980609 - TR 49.72032 60.75202 49.72032 0 0.93					
Carlin Barlan	A Query executed successfully	L coe				
		coe				
Ready 09:43:38		INS				

Figure 6 SQL retrieval of HERE bulk data (highlighted rows showing dynamic subsegmentation)

HPMS Volume Data

The Highway Performance Monitoring System (HPMS) data was used to attribute volumes for segments and analysis. Mostly, the annual average daily traffic was used as an independent variable in models. Shapefiles were used in GIS for the conflation process.

RTMC Incident Data

Another new dataset used in this project was the incident data logged by the RTMCs. For each incident that the RTMCs handle, detailed notes are included. These notes were combined with crash data and used for modeling and understanding impacts from the response. Approximately 7,000 incidents were included in the study. A sample dataset for three incidents is shown in Table 2.

Table 2 Sample RTMC incident data

EVENTID	48235	48312	48488
EVENTTYPE	Accident	Accident	Accident
EVENTSUBTYPE	Crash	Crash	Crash
LASTSEVERITY	1	1	2
LASTLANEPATTERN	tzzzs	tzzs	tzzs
CREATEDBY	floydkb	adamsl	harrisg
LATITUDE	32.367825	31.679459	31.58355
LONGITUDE	-86.121147	-86.754379	-86.839966
MILEMARKER	12	116	107
ROADTYPE	Interstate	Interstate	Interstate
PRIMARYROAD	I-85	I-65	I-65
CROSSROAD	Exit 11: Atlanta Hwy	Bolling Road	Exit 107: CR 7; Hank Williams Rd
DIRECTION	N	Ν	Ν
COUNTY	Montgomery	Butler	Butler
CITY	Montgomery		
DISTRICT	Montgomery	Montgomery	Montgomery
DETECTIONMETHOD	Operator-detected	Operator-detected	Operator-detected
DATE	2018/01/02 08:40:00	2018/01/02 10:51:17	2018/01/02 15:34:19
CREATEDDATE	1/2/18 8:40 AM	1/2/18 10:51 AM	1/2/18 3:34 PM
VERIFIEDTIME	1/2/18 8:40 AM	1/2/18 10:51 AM	1/2/18 3:34 PM
DISPATCHEDTIME	1/2/18 8:40 AM		
FIRSTRESPONDERTIME	1/2/18 9:00 AM		
ALLLANESOPENTIME	1/2/18 9:57 AM	1/2/18 11:32 AM	1/2/18 4:48 PM
RESPONDERDEPARTTIME	1/2/18 9:57 AM	1/2/18 11:32 AM	1/2/18 4:56 PM
NORMALFLOWTIME			
POLICEARRIVETIME	1/2/18 9:00 AM		
POLICEDEPARTTIME	1/2/18 9:57 AM		
AMBULANCEARRIVETIME			
AMBULANCEDEPARTTIME			
FIREARRIVETIME			
FIREDEPARTTIME			
HAZMATARRIVETIME			
HAZMATDEPARTTIME			
CORONERARRIVETIME			
CORONERDEPARTTIME			
TOWARRIVETIME			
TOWDEPARTTIME			
PROCESSEDTIME	4/10/19 10:29 AM	4/10/19 10:29 AM	4/10/19 10:29 AM
AGENCY	ALDOT	ALDOT	ALDOT

For reference, a sample of the RTMC incident data in the Advanced Traffic Management System (ATMS) is shown in Figure 7. The RTMC operators monitor each incident and note any key changes in incident status.

ist 👔				11222274-012				
ype	ID ,	Туре	Start Time	End Time	Road Type	Location	County	Event Status
•	18757	Abandoned Vehicle	08/24/2017 08:41	08/25/2017 09:41	7 Interstate	I-20/59 W at Bama Rock Garden	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed
L	18756	Bridge Repair / Inspection	08/24/2017 08:00	08/24/2017 14:00	7 Interstate	I-20/59 W at Holly Springs Road/SR 30 to I-20/59 W at Holl Springs Road/SR 30	Tuscaloosa 0 y 0	Confirmed
L	18755	Bridge Repair / Inspection	08/24/2017 07:30	08/24/2017 16:00	Interstate	I-65 S before CR 28 Lake Mitchell Rd to I 65 S before CR 28 Lake Mitchell Rd	; Chilton	Confirmed
٤	18750	Resurfacing or Paving	08/23/2017 08:00	08/24/2017 16:00	U.S. Highwa	y US 43 N past Shiver De Freeze Rd/Dough Rd to US 43 N before Fulmer Rd	Tuscaloosa ty	Confirmed
٤	18727	Bridge Repair / Inspection	08/21/2017 08:00	08/31/2017 16:00	Interstate	I-20/59 E at Universi Blvd/US 11/SR 7 to I- 20/59 E before Keenes Mill Rd	ty Tuscaloosa	Confirmed
6	18726	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 10:44	11/30/2018 11:44	Interstate	I-65 S before CR 42 to I-65 S past CR 42	o Chilton	Confirmed
1	18725	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 08:00	08/31/2017 16:00	Interstate	I-20/59 E at Skyland Blvd to I-20/59 E at University Blvd/US 11/SR 7	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed
4	18724	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 08:00	01/01/2018 16:00	U.S. Highway	US 31 N before CR 44 to US 31 N before CR 95	Chilton	Confirmed
C TO	18563	Strong Winds	07/29/2017 03:09	07/29/2018 03:09		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed
٨	18554	Resurfacing or Paving	07/26/2017 07:00	09/30/2017 17:30	Interstate	I-20/59 W at Exit 68: Joe Mallisham Pkwy to I-20/59 W at Holly Springs Road/SR 300	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed
1	18544	Resurfacing or Paving	07/28/2017 06:00	10/31/2017 06:00	Interstate	I-20/59 W at Exit 62 : Holly Springs Rd/SR 300 to I-20/59 W before Exit 52 US 11/CR 231	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed
1	18456	Resurfacing or Paving	07/17/2017 07:00	09/01/2017 18:00	U.S. Highway	US 82 EW before SR 5 to US 82 EW past SR 25/Montevallo Rd	Bibb	Confirmed
C.	18265	Strong Winds	06/21/2017 11:16	06/21/2018 11:16		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed
Carlos Carlos	18262	Strong Winds	06/21/2017 09:16	06/21/2018 09:16		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed
1	18164	Strong Winds	05/23/2017 (09:18 (05/23/2018 09:18		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed
	18142	Strong Winds	05/22/2017 (23:18 2	05/22/2018 23:18		E at Ft. Payne	DeKalb	Unconfirmed
070	18078	Strong Winds	05/01/2017 0 02:05 0	05/01/2018 02:05		E at Decatur N	lorgan	Unconfirmed
(TB)	18069	Strong Winds	04/30/2017 0	4/30/2018		E at Demonolis	lalo	Unsurfaced

Figure 7 Sample RTMC data as it's being handled in the ATMS

Data Conflation

When working with multiple linear datasets (HERE dynamic subsegments, freeway mileposts, HPMS segments, etc.), combining these datasets in a logical manner to fully describe the road network is important. Ideally, and specific location on the road network (either a latitude/longitude point or a milepost and direction on a specific freeway) would have a full set of information, including route, direction, AADT, speed, geometry characteristics, and other pertinent information. One major problem is that each dataset usually has different break points. As an example, the TMC shapefile provided by HERE is shown with the HPMS volume shapefile in Figure 8. While both of these files chart the roads of Alabama, they do not directly match.



Figure 8 Conflation example where two different linear systems feature different break points

To overcome the varying break points of each dataset and properly assemble the data for all freeways in Alabama, conflation of the multiple datasets was conducted. Conflation is a process developed at the Texas Transportation Institute at Texas A&M to join two maps such that data can be used from both. The conflation process is done in a GIS system such as ArcMap and is described in the steps below:

- 1. Select one map as the "Join Map" and the other as the "Base Map." We used the HPMS data set as the base map.
- 2. Extract the segment endpoints from the Join Map
- 3. Create a buffer around each of the endpoints
- 4. Merge overlapping or adjacent points and extract the centroid to create a clean endpoint file
- 5. Break the Base Map features at each endpoint
- 6. Create a buffer around each Join Map segment
- 7. Spatially join the Base Map links to the Join Map by giving each the attributes of the buffer polygon it falls completely inside.
- 8. Repeat the process on unmatched links
- 9. Merge all layers
- 10. Perform quality control checks

At the end of the process, the conflated segment is broken at both the TMC and HPMS endpoints, and so for a given segment of road both the speed and volume records may be retrieved. These data can be combined with a weighted average so that the volume of a TMC segment or the speed of an HPMS segment may be calculated. This allows for the calculation of more robust delay metrics that account for both speed and volume. The conflation process is challenging, particularly in the quality control step, and many lessons were learned along the way to adapt to continual changes with datasets.

Data Dashboards

Dashboards are used to display the speed data in meaningful ways, allowing the user to select the areas or time periods of interest. These tools can be used for real-time monitoring of the road or after-action review. Already, the RTMCs have been using speed dashboards in their existing ATMS (Figure 9).



Figure 9 West Central RTMC speed dashboard (upper right) in existing ATMS

In the next sections, the development of two additional dashboards will be discussed. These dashboards will summarize and use the HERE speed data in new ways as described in the original proposal.

Traffic Ticker

The traffic ticker dashboard displays the miles of roadway that are operating under a certain speed threshold (usually 45 mph). This dashboard is useful for looking at an entire state or region and breaking down speed records by facility, direction, and speed. The early prototype traffic ticker dashboard is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10 Prototype traffic ticker

In this dashboard, a date is first selected. Usually a 24-hour period for a single day is most useful for reviewing the speed data and how the network was operating. Next, a speed threshold is set for when congestion is likely to have occurred. While 45 mph is the standard threshold, a lower value (e.g. 25 mph) would provide more certainty about congestion or anomalies happening. Recalling the speed records (see Table 1), when the median observations for a segment are under the threshold, then that segment length is included in the miles of congestion (miles affected in Figure 11 through Figure 15). These charts can be used daily to track freeways across the state and gauge how congestion is doing. Perhaps one of the most interesting uses will be for winter weather conditions. In the next section, a case study is shown for a special event traffic scenario.

Case Study – The University of Alabama vs Louisiana State University (11/9/19)

To demonstrate the final traffic ticker product, November 9, 2019 will be used as a case study. This Saturday was a special event football game at the University of Alabama. In Figure 11, the traffic ticker is used to show all freeways in Alabama across all regions. The worst time of the day was 20:15 when over 30 miles of freeway was below the congestion speed threshold of 45 mph. Note that the colors in this graph represent different speed intervals below the congestion level.



Figure 11 Traffic ticker (all freeways, all regions, varying congestion thresholds by speed)

In Figure 12, the data is divided by region. East Central Region had a steady portion (approximately 3 miles) of freeway that remained below 45 mph due to the Central Business District project. More to the point of the case study, West Central Region had congestion conditions during the AM period from 8:30-11:45 and the PM period from 18:00-22:30.



Figure 12 Traffic ticker (all freeways, grouped by region, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)

Selecting just the West Central Region, these two periods are very clearly shown in Figure 13. This information is very useful to the West Central Region, the RTMC, and the RTOP program to monitor how special event traffic control was handled.



Figure 13 Traffic ticker (West Central Region only, all freeways, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)

The traffic ticker also allows for the data to be grouped by freeway. Figure 14 shows the breakout of each freeway and when there is congestion for each facility and direction.



Figure 14 Traffic ticker (all regions, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)

When only the freeways and directions handled in Tuscaloosa County are shown, the directional anomalies and characteristics can be observed for this particular event (Figure 15).



Figure 15 Traffic ticker (WCR only, grouped by freeway & direction, congestion threshold set at 45 mph)

This insight is, again, especially useful for reviewing management strategies of special events.

Delta Speed Map Dashboard

This delta speed tool is designed to detect areas of speed differential on the interstate system, which usually signals a building queue that can lead to dangerous back-of-queue crashes. The delta speed between two segments is the difference in speeds between the downstream and upstream segments. If this difference is greater than 15 mph, it is shown on the map. Delta speed events are shown as circles placed between the two segments. Recent events have a large circle, which gets smaller as the speed recovers. The color of the circle points to the severity of the speed drop. The map makes use of subsegments where available, to better locate a queue within a TMC segment. One other feature with this dashboard is the ability to playback historical data. For all of the HERE speed data stored, this tool is able to review historical incidents as shown in the following case study.

Case Study – The University of Alabama vs Louisiana State University (11/9/19)

Following the previous case study for the traffic ticker, November 9, 2019 will be used as a case study. During this special event day, there was a small spike in congestion on I-20/59 westbound (see Figure 15). At 1:56PM, a speed differential occurs. Something happened on I-20/59 westbound where speeds drop on a downstream segment and the upstream segment remains high (favorable conditions for queuing and secondary crashes). Figure 16 shows where these conditions first occur.



Figure 16 Delta speed playback tool: speed differential occurs

Looking at the measured speeds for each of the two segments, the upstream speed is 59.1 mph and the downstream speed is 28.2 mph. This speed differential is approximately 31 mph as shown in Figure 17.



Figure 17 Delta speed playback tool: measuring the speed differential

After the next data interval of two minutes, an incident is automatically established for tracking. Figure 18 shows the speed differential located on the map for tracking as long as the speed differential persists.

Nayback 11/9/2019, 1:58:00 PM	From 11/9/2019, 12:00:00 PM to 11	/9/2019, 5:00:00 PM 🛛 🛞 👁
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Circlewood	
Sahama Sahama Milage +02 -33 -33 -33 -33 -33 -33 -33 -33 -33 -3	60.4************************************	67.5 -83
Filds -10.5 Burks Cardens		
Aun Creat	Something of the something	

Figure 18 Delta speed playback tool: tracking the speed differential

For the 1:58 observation, the speed differential is measured to be approximately 43 mph based upon the upstream speed of 60.1 mph and downstream speed of 16.8 mph as shown in Figure 19.

Playback 11/9/2019, 1:58:00 PM	From 11/9/2019, 12:00:00 PM to 11/9/2019, 5:00:00 PM
60.1 – 16.8 = 43 MPH Track the Incident	The second
+6.5 Burks Gardens III III III III III III III III III I	

Figure 19 Delta speed playback tool: continue tracking and measuring the speed differential

Playback 11/9/2019, 1:58:00 PM			From 11/9/2019, 12:00:00 PM to 11/9/2019, 5:00:00 PM) @
60.1 – 16.8 = 43 MPH	Route 1-20/1-59 Westbound		Виния Тол Кал	A
	Description	1-359/AL-69/Exit 71	-7.6 -8	13 15
	Current Speed (mph)	16.8		
	Delta Speed (mph)	-43.3	20	
	€ Zoom to	₫ 3 of 4 D		
0 043.3	ଖା ଣ +6.5			1
Burks Gardens		-		R. and

Details of this speed differential incident are stored as shown in Figure 20 and can be reviewed to see specific information for more accurate measurements and understanding.

Figure 20 Delta speed playback tool: looking at speed differential detail data

FHWA EDC Presentation and Interest

After reviewing these dashboards with the project advisory committee (PAC) and maintenance bureau, this work was presented at an FHWA EDC-5 Vehicle Probe Data Peer Exchange on March 12 in St. Louis, MO. The presentation was shared with 11 peer states and very-well received, with follow-up from several states. The full presentation is included in the appendix and the highlight from FHWA is shown below in Figure 21.

U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration About Programs Resources Briefing Room Contact Sear	ch FHWA 🛛 👔 👑 💌 in 🧿
Center for Accelerating Innovation	
	Search Accelerating Innovation
FHWA Home / OIPD / Accelerating Innovation / Every Day Counts / Center for Accelerating Innovation	
CAI Home Every Day Counts STIC Network AID Demonstration AN	AR Program Resources
EDCNEWS Weekly Newsletter	
Keeping You Informed about	every day counts
 EDC News - August 13, 2020 Innovation of the Month: Focus on Reducing Rural Roadway Departures Alabama Measures Cost of Delay using Vehicle Probe Data Did You Miss It? –FHWA Innovation Conversations 	Sign up to receive EDC News, Innovator newsletters and other information.

Figure 21 FHWA Newsletter about Alabama Probe Data Work

Incident Analysis

After the dashboards were developed, the data storage procedures were in place to start analyzing each incident. One key component was a way to measure the impact of each incident, including the duration of the incident, the queuing distance of the incident, and the severity of the drop in speed. A new scoring system was used and called the Speed Differential Mile Hours (SDMH).

Speed Differential Mile Hours

The SDMH concept was previously described by Hainen, Jones, and Zephaniah. This measure is consistent with what other researchers have used (Wang Z. et al., 2018). It is computed using historical speed data to estimate the SDMH as defined by Equation 1.

$$SDMH = \left\{ \frac{\sum_{m_i}^{m_f} \sum_{t_i}^{t_f} (FFS_i - Speed_{m_t})}{60} \right\} * miles$$
(1)

Where m_i and m_f indicate start and end milepost over a specific segment, t_i and t_f are the initial and end time stamps over a specific duration, and FFS_i is the free flow speed at road segment *i*. The SDMH is calculated by analyzing a segment upstream of a crash location following a crash event using six-step process described below:

- Step 1 collect traffic speed data for the segment where the crash event occured.
- Step 2 estimate reduction in free flow speed (per mile per minute).
- Step 3 sum the reduction in free flow speed over time and space (for each minute and segment length).
- Step 4 divide the reduction in free flow speed per mile per minute by 60 to obtain the reduction in speed per mile per hour per segment.
- Step 5 sum up the values obtained in Step 3 which gives the speed differential mile minute.
- Step 6 divide value obtained in Step 5 by 60 to obtain the SDMH (in hours).

The methodology discussed above is consistent with shockwave propagation approach for estimating the spatiotemporal impact of traffic incidents (Wang Z. et al., 2018) which describes the gradual propagation of traffic speed through the shockwaves. To illustrate the process, Figure 1 depicts two typical applications of this this process. Figure 1a shows how the process is followed step-by-step to calculate an SDMH of 0.5 and provides a visual image of the time-space domain. Figure 1b, then illustrates how a more intense speed reduction upstream results in a larger SDMH being calculated – in this case and SDMH of 13.



Segment Speed (Miles per Hour) Sampled each minute over 1-mile segments

(b) NB Crash at 9:02AM (SDMH = 13)

6

5

Figure 1 Estimation of the SDMH for a crash event

SDMH Tool

With a systematic and qualitative scoring methodology in place, a tool was developed to retrieve this information for each incident and crash. This tool is available at the following location: https://sdmh.aladata.com/.



Figure 22 SDMH tool showing an example incident with an SDMH score of 8101.8

Modeling Incident Duration and Assessing Incident Clearance Times

With all the data previously discussed, the final tasks included the modeling of mobility impact from incidents and then the interpretation and write-up of model findings. The following work is a paper led by N. Islam and A. Hainen which examines the TIMs clearance times for incidents on Alabama freeways.

Traffic congestion caused by incidents is a major problem in the freeways (Hou, et al., Modeling freeway incident response time: A mechanism-based approach, 2013). As the duration of a freeway incident increases, it increases the probability of secondary accidents, severity of traffic congestion levels, traveler delays, travel time variability, negative social and economic impacts, air pollution and fuel consumption (Alkaabi, Dissanayake, & Bird, 2011; Ghosh, Savolainen, & Gates, 2014; Hojati, Ferreiraa, Washington, Charles, & Shobeirinejad, 2014). Traffic Management Centers (TMCs) are often tasked with monitoring and responding appropriately to minimize the incident duration and to alleviate the impact of traffic incidents (Hou, et al., 2014; Ding, Ma, Wang, & Wang, 2015). To achieve this goal, it is important for the TMCs to understand the impact of incidents on traffic congestion and the contributing factors that effects the incident duration. A better understanding of the influential factors on incident duration can help the TMCs in assigning suitable incident management resources to a certain incident. Also, operational changes in current incident management procedure can be identified to improve incident response and clearance times (Hojati, Ferreiraa, Washington, Charles, & Shobeirinejad, 2014; Hou, et al., 2014).

The Highway Capacity Manual has divided the incident response timeline into four phases. These phases include (1) detection time: the time between the incident occurrence and incident reporting time, (2) response time: the time between the incident reporting time and the time that the first responder arrives on the scene, (3) clearance time: the time between the arrival of the first responder on the scene and the moment when the incident has been cleared from the highway, and (4) recovery time: the time taken for traffic flow to return to normal after the incident has been cleared (Manual, 1994). These phases are illustrated in Figure 23. Among these phases, the incident clearance time is the focus of this paper, as it is a critical phase which can be directly controlled by the Traffic Management Centers (TMCs).



Figure 23 Phases of Incident Duration.

Over the last few decades, several researchers analyzed incident duration and explored the affecting factors using different statistical models. (Nam & Mannering, 2000) used hazard-based duration models to analyze the incident duration in terms of detection/reporting time, response time, and clearance time by using freeway incident data of Washington State. Their analysis proved that hazard-based duration models are appropriate in analyzing incident duration data. The study showed that incident type, day of the week, month of the year, weather condition, location of the incident, peak time, and presence of shoulder had significant effect on incident duration times. (Alkaabi, Dissanayake, & Bird, 2011) examined incident duration by using fully parametric accelerated failure time (AFT) hazard-based duration model by using data from the city of Abu Dhabi, UAE. The results of this study showed that various incident characteristics significantly affect incident clearance time, including incident type, severity of incident, weather condition, location, month of the year, number of vehicles involved and so on. The authors also used the fully parametric AFT hazard-based duration models to analyze effect of the influential factor on incident response time in their further research work (Alkaabi, Dissanayake, & Bird, 2012). They found that incident type, location of the incident, day of the week, and month of the year had significant influence on incident response time.

(Hojati, Ferreira, Washington, & Charles, 2013) explored the effects of various factors related with the type of incidents on incident duration. Twelve months of Austrian freeway incident data were analyzed by developing parametric accelerated failure time (AFT) survival models for incident duration, which included log-logistic, lognormal, fixed and random parameters Weibull and Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity. The results showed that incident severity, incident type, towing requirements, location, time of day, and traffic characteristics of the incident had significant impact on incident duration. The authors expanded their analysis further by using the parametric AFT survival model with fixed and random parameters specifications to analyze the unobserved heterogeneity of the incident detection and response time (Hojati, Ferreiraa, Washington, Charles, & Shobeirinejad, 2014). The study showed that incident characteristics (i.e., presence of shoulder), temporal characteristics (i.e., time of the day) and traffic characteristics (i.e., peak time) significantly affected the incident detection and response time.

(Hou, et al., 2013) proposed a mechanism-based approach to model incident response time and to explore the influential factors of incident response time based on the performance of the incident response truck (IRT). Using the Washington State Incident Tracking System (WITS) data and dual-loop detector data, the authors found that injury involved, shoulder/medial involved, heavy truck involved, disabled vehicles involved, weekends, and debris were factors associated with longer response time. However, collision, work zone involved, HOV lane involved, fire involved, abandoned vehicles involved, all travel lanes blocked, winter, summer, AM peak, PM peak, and average annual daily traffic (AADT) were identified to shorten incident response time. The authors also developed a non-proportional hazard-based duration model to analyze the incident clearance time and the time-varying effects of contributing factors on incident clearance time (Hou, et al., 2014). The authors found that five factors (Washington State Patrol involved, average annual daily traffic, fire involved, injury involved, and summer) had significant constant impact on the incident clearance time. Seven variables (disabled vehicles involved, single lane blocked, multiple lanes blocked, collision, short response time, medium response time, and long response time)

were found to have significant time-increasing influence and six variables (abandoned vehicles involved, heavy truck involved, debris, traffic control, weekends and night time) were observed to have time-decreasing effects on incident clearance time.

(Ghosh, Savolainen, & Gates, 2014) examined freeway incident clearance time taken by the Michigan Department of Transportation Freeway Courtesy Patrol and the effects of the influential factors by using the southeastern Michigan freeway incident duration data. The authors used a series of fully parametric hazard-based duration models to explore the factors affecting the freeway incident clearance time. The results showed that time of the day, month of the year, seasonal variation, traffic characteristics, geometric characteristics, and incident characteristics were significantly impacting the incident clearance time. (Ding, Ma, Wang, & Wang, 2015) used a switching regression model and a binary probit model to analyze the influential factors in incident response and clearance time. Using the Washington State freeway incident data, the authors conclude that incident type, geographical, temporal, environmental, operational and traffic characteristics had significant impact on incident response and clearance time.

Over the course of these studies, freeway incident management programs have become more common in managing freeway incidents. Traffic Management Centers (TMCs) have shown their dependency on these programs to respond quickly and safely as possible to incidents. Many previous studies had identified various factors, including incident types, temporal factors, environmental characteristics, infrastructure or geometry of the roadway, traffic condition and operational characteristics, impacting incident duration in terms of detection time, response time and clearance time. As for operational characteristics, the freeway service patrol area coverage has yet to be examined as an important influential factor affecting incident clearance time. In this paper, the existing coverage of the Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol (ASAP) program has been considered as an important influential factor on freeway incident clearance time.

Goals and Objectives

The goal of this paper is to measure and understand the impact of Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol (ASAP) on incident clearance time. The objectives of this paper include (1) to pair and analyze TMC incident data with crash data, (2) estimate a duration model for incident clearance time, and (3) assess the factors that contribute to incident clearance time. This study uses a fully parametric hazard-based duration model to statistically analyze the factors that affect the incident clearance time. The novelty of this paper is the inclusion of additional ASAP coverage area information in the duration models. The contribution of this paper is to provide a better understanding of the factors that contribute to the incident clearance time and to provide a quantitative estimate of the impact of ASAP programs.

Data

Four different datasets were used to achieve the goal and objectives of this paper. The first dataset includes 18,275 highway crashes collected from the Center for Advanced Public Safety (CAPS), an interdisciplinary research center at The University of Alabama for the calendar year 2018. The second dataset comprises 7,323 highway incidents recorded by Traffic Management Centers (TMCs) for the year of 2018. These two datasets were joined using the attributes date, time, road name, direction of travel and location, which linked 2,206 crashes and incidents. The third dataset includes the average annual daily

traffic (AADT) data for the calendar year 2018 collected from ALDOT. The final dataset contains the existing Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol (ASAP) information gathered from ALDOT, which is the key attribute in this paper (Figure 24). Each incident was determined whether the location occurred within the service patrol region (Figure 25) or not. It should be noted that incidents within the ASAP area may not have necessarily had the ASAP arrive to the location first or at all. In the future, additional logs and records will further help to understand the impact.



Figure 24 Flowchart of Data Processing.

After joining these four datasets, 88 potential independent variables were created to analyze and assess the effects of these variables on the incident clearance time. These variables can be divided based on incident types and characteristics, environmental effects, traffic characteristics, operational characteristics, temporal effects and geographic characteristics. The final sample included 2,206 crashes and incidents occurring on freeways in Alabama.



Figure 25 Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol Area Coverage.

Methodology

Considering the large variance in the incident clearance time, a statistical method is warranted to understand the duration problem. Hazard-based duration models are statistical models which are well suited for modeling duration data. The models are used to analyze the conditional probability of a time duration that continued until time t, given that the duration has ended at the time t (Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011). Hazard-based duration models are extensively used in biostatistics, economics, engineering, and social sciences for analyzing the duration of a specific event (Hensher & Mannering, 1994; Nam & Mannering, 2000; Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011). In this paper, a hazard-based duration model was used to understand the additional information of the underlying duration of incidents.

In studying incident duration data, the variable of interest is the length of time between the arrival of the first responder at the scene and the opening of all lanes, which is defined as the incident clearance time. The incident clearance time in hazard-based model is a continuous random variable T, with a cumulative distribution function F(t), which is called the failure function, probability density function f(t), survival function S(t), and hazard function h(t). The cumulative distribution function F(t) for the incident clearance time (T) is defined in the following equation, where P is the probability that the incident clearance duration being greater than some specified time t.

$$F(t) = P(T < t) \tag{1}$$

The probability density function f(t), which is the derivative value of the cumulative distribution function F(t), is defines as

$$f(t) = \frac{dF(t)}{dt}$$
(2)

The hazard function h(t) gives the rate at which the incident clearance times are ending at time t, given that they have not ended prior to time t (Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011).

$$h(t) = \frac{f(t)}{1 - F(t)} \tag{3}$$

Conversely, the survival function, S(t), is the probability of the duration being greater than or equal to some specific time t.

$$S(t) = P(T \ge t) = 1 - F(t)$$
 (4)

The derivative of h(t) will indicate if the probability of an incident clearance time is increasing, decreasing or remain constant as t changes which can depend on the incident types and other attributes of the incident. Proportional-hazard model have been popular in accounting for the attributes which are influential to the incident clearance time (Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011). Therefore, a statistical model can be incorporated using the proportional-hazard approach:

$$h(t|X) = h_0(t)e^{\beta X}$$
⁽⁵⁾

where $h_0(t)$ indicates the baseline hazard function and $e^{\beta X}$ represents the effect of explanatory factors on the hazard. X is the vector of external influential factors and β is the vector of estimable parameters.

In estimating Eq. (5) with fully parametric model, a variety of parametric forms of the underlying hazard function can be used, which includes exponential, log-logistic, Weibull, and so on (Nam & Mannering, 2000; Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011). The Weibull distribution allows the hazard function to be monotonically increasing or decreasing (indicating the probability of an incident clearance-time duration ending increases or decreases over time) (Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011; Hainen, Remias, Bullock, & Mannering, 2013). With parameters I > 0 and P > 0, the Weibull distribution has the hazard function,

$$h(t) = (\lambda P)(\lambda t)^{P-1}$$
(6)

The original proportional-hazard approach assumes that the baseline hazard function $h_0(t)$ is homogeneous for each observation. However, there is a possibility of unobserved heterogeneity in analyzing the incident clearance time using hazard-based duration model. (Washington, Karlaftis, & Mannering, 2011) showed that the most popular approach to examine heterogeneity in fully parametric models, is to introduce a heterogeneity term, gamma over the population. Therefore, the Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity with mean 1 and variance θ is:

$$h(t) = \frac{(\lambda P)(\lambda t)^{P-1}}{1 + \theta(\lambda t)^{P}}$$
⁽⁷⁾

In this study, the Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity is used to analyze the incident clearance time on 2,206 crashes on Alabama highways. Numeral previous studies have been used this statistical model to assess the incident duration data and therefore, is used in this paper for direct comparison. All statistical analyses are performed using NLOGIT 5.

Results

The parameter estimates of the Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity on highway incident clearance time are provided in Table 3. The *t*-statistic is included in the table to indicate the statistical significance. All the variables are statistically significant at 95% level of confidence. The positive value of the parameter estimate indicates the decrease in the hazard function and the increase in the incident clearance time. Eighty-eight potential independent variables were examined on 2,206 highway incidents, including incident types and characteristics, environmental effects, traffic characteristics, operational characteristics, temporal effects and geographic characteristics. Seventeen variables are found to have significant effect on the duration of the incident clearance time. The effects of such significant variables are discussed in detail in the following discussion section and will be compared with previous findings. Table 3 Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity estimation results for incident clearance time

Variables	Estimated Parameter	t-statistic
Constant	3.593	33.97
Incident characteristics		
Fire response (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.196	5.44
Hazardous materials response (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.917	3.11
Commercial motor vehicle (CMV) involved (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.388	6.77
Fatality involved (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.689	5.23
Seat belt involved (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	-0.144	-3.41
Number of vehicle(s) involved	0.161	6.77
Vehicle towed (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.373	11.06
On-road (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	-0.195	-4.30
Overturn (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.201	2.24
Temporal characteristics	0.081	2 33
Winter (December January February)	0.031	1.96
Peak hours (1 if incident occurred between $7 \text{ AM} = 9 \text{ AM}$	0.075	1.50
and 4 PM – 6 PM, 0 otherwise)	-0.085	-2.74
Traffic characteristics		
Average annual daily traffic (AADT)	-0.005	-8.66
Number of lanes in the trafficway (1 - 6)	0.044	3.91
Operational characteristics		
Detection Time (in minutes)	0.010	2.67
Police involved (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	0.264	4.44
ASAP area (1 if yes, 0 otherwise)	-0.218	-5.10
Model structure parameters	0.405	27.00
Sigma (distribution parameter)	0.495	37.93
Theta (heterogeneity)	0.405	8.72
Log-likelihood at convergence	-2280.013	_
Number of observations	2206	_

Figure 26 represents various functions for the incident clearance time. The blue solid line indicates the survival function for the raw data, whereas the red short-dotted line shows the survival function for the estimated model. From Figure 26, it is found that the raw and estimated survival functions are very close to each other, indicating that the model fits the data quite well. The green long-dotted line shows the estimated hazard function for the incident clearance time. The estimated value of *t* at the inflection point is 76 minutes for the hazard function, which indicates that the incident duration is likely to be increased after 76 minutes. In other words, the P value greater than one for the hazard function of the analyzed incident clearance time ending decreases after 76 minutes.



Figure 26 Survival and Hazard Functions for Incident Clearance Time.

Discussion

Incident characteristics

The variables which are grouped in the incident characteristics includes involvement of fire, hazardous material, presence of coroner, severity types (injury, fatality, property damage), number of vehicle(s) and person(s) involvement, incident types (collision with vehicle, overturn, barrier involvement, on road or off road incidents) and so on. Looking at the model results using 2018 highway incident data, if fire response (*coef* = 0.196, t = 5.44) was involved in the incident, this variable was found to have increased incident clearance time. The involvement of the fire truck response to incidents usually requires more time to clear the incident as traffic across all lanes is stopped. This finding of increased clearance time is consistent with the research works conducted by (Hou, et al., 2014) and (Ding, Ma, Wang, & Wang, 2015). Incidents involving hazardous material response (*coef* = 0.917, t = 3.11) were found to be associated with longer incident clearance times, which is consistent with the previous research works from (Nam & Mannering, 2000) and (Hojati, Ferreira, Washington, & Charles, 2013). Fuel spills, hazardous material spills, and other types of incidents which require additional care will require additional time. While these findings are intuitive, this modeling methodology serves as a valuable and holistic tool to identify these key factors

and which should be considered in response plans as parameters that may provide opportunity to reduce incident clearance times.

The variable for commercial motor vehicle involved (CMV) (coef = 0.388. t = 6.77) was found to have a positive parameter estimate, which indicates an increase in the incident clearance time. This is expected as incidents involved with CMV are complex and often require time-consuming recoveries. If the incident is involved with any fatality (coef = 0.689, t = 5.23), it was found to significantly increase the incident clearance time. The incidents with fatality tend to be more severe and require more time to document and process as the response teams have to work with different agencies such as police and EMS. This finding agrees with the many previous research works (Nam & Mannering, 2000; Lee & Fazio, 2005; Chung, 2010; Alkaabi, Dissanayake, & Bird, 2011).

The parameter estimate for seat belt (coef = -0.144, t = -3.41) was found to be associated with shorter clearance time. Seat belt use tends to reduce the severity of an incident which results shorter clearance time (Kashani, Shariat-Mohaymany, & Ranjbari, 2012). The parameter estimate for the number of vehicle(s) (coef = 0.161, t = 6.77) was found positive, which indicates that as the number of vehicle(s) increases, the duration of clearing the incident also increases. This result is expected as additional vehicles involved leads to longer incident clearance time. The variable indicating that a vehicle was towed (coef = 0.373, t = 11.06) was found to have positive parameter estimate, which indicates an increase in clearance time. This finding is consistent with the previous research (Nam & Mannering, 2000; Hojati, Ferreira, Washington, & Charles, 2013).

Incidents occurring on-road (coef = -0.195, t = -4.30) as opposed to the shoulder or off of the roadway were found to have a negative parameter estimate, which indicates a decrease in clearance time. The incidents occurring on the roadway (as opposed to incidents which ended up outside of the travel lanes) is more likely to cause one or more lanes to be closed. Therefore, the traffic incident management agencies provide rapid response to these types of incidents to reduce the possibility of more intense congestion. The blocking of traffic is more quickly detected and increases the probability of drivers reporting the incident. If overturning (coef = 0.201, t = 2.24) of a vehicle occurred in the incident, it was found to be associated with longer clearance time. The incidents involving overturned vehicles tend to have higher severities and require substantial effort in removal or up-righting of the overturned vehicles. The traffic incident management agencies have to work with police and first responder departments, which results longer clearance time.

Temporal characteristics

The temporal characteristics in the model include the time of the incident (daytime or nighttime), the seasonal variations, different peak and off-peak time, day of the week, month of the year, weekdays, weekends and so on. If the incident occurred at nighttime (coef = 0.081, t = 2.33), it was found to be associated with longer clearance time. This might be because of the lower availability of the response team and additional complications with working at night. This result is consistent with the research works conducted by (Nam & Mannering, 2000), (Ghosh, Savolainen, & Gates, 2014), but inconsistent with the works conducted by (Hou, et al., 2014) and (Ghosh, Savolainen, & Gates, 2014).

The incidents which occurred in winter (*coef* = 0.073, *t*= 1.96) was found to have positive parameter estimate which indicates increased clearance time. This might be because of the inclement weather or buildup snow on the shoulder (Ghosh, Savolainen, & Gates, 2014), therefore, it takes more time to clear the incident. The peak hours parameter estimate (*coef* = -0.085, *t* = -2.74) was found to be associated with shorter clearance time. Daily traffic peak hours are important and therefore for the traffic management agencies respond to incidents as quickly to alleviate the any additional traffic congestion. This finding coincides with the research works conducted by (Alkaabi, Dissanayake, & Bird, 2011; Ding, Ma, Wang, & Wang, 2015; Hojati, Ferreiraa, Washington, Charles, & Shobeirinejad, 2014; Hou, et al., Modeling freeway incident response time: A mechanism-based approach, 2013; Jones, Janssen, & Mannering, 1991).

Traffic characteristics

For traffic characteristics, average annual daily traffic (AADT), truck annual daily traffic (TADT), percent truck annual daily traffic (PTADT), number of lanes in the trafficway, etc. were analyzed to measure their effects on the incident clearance time. The factor of average annual daily traffic (AADT) (*coef* = -0.005, *t* = -8.66) was associated with decreased clearance time. The freeways with higher AADT indicates the importance of the freeway with higher traffic demand. Therefore, the traffic incident management agencies seem to appropriately provide response priority to the freeways with higher AADT to avoid more traffic congestion which results shorter incident clearance time. This finding is consistent with many previous research works (Jones, Janssen, & Mannering, 1991; Hou, et al., 2013; Ding, Ma, Wang, & Wang, 2015). The infrastructure characteristic for number of trafficway lanes (*coef* = 0.044, *t* = 3.91) was found to have positive parameter estimate which indicates increased clearance time. This indicates that if the number of lanes in the trafficway increases, it increases the clearance time. More lanes may complicate temporary traffic control and therefore takes more time to clear the incident.

Operational characteristics

Detection time, verification time, response time, police involvement, and existing Alabama Service and Assistance Patrol (ASAP) area were examined to assess the influence of operational characteristics on the incident clearance time. As for operational characteristics, the variable for detection time in minutes (*coef* = 0.010, t = 2.67) was found to be associated with longer clearance time. This is expected as any blockage causing queuing for a longer time will take more time for the traffic incident management agencies to respond to the incident which leads to longer clearance time. The factor for police involved (*coef* = 0.264, t = 4.44) was found to have a positive parameter estimate. This is likely reflecting the nature of police responding to relatively severe incidents which would naturally require police attending to the scene. This finding is consistent with the research conducted by (Hou, et al., 2014), which showed that police involvement tends to increase the clearance time.

Lastly, the inclusion of the freeway service patrol is a major emphasis and novelty for this work. The variable ASAP (coef = -0.21845, t = -5.10) was found to be associated with shorter clearance time. If an incident occurs in the ASAP patrol area, the ASAP can quickly detect it. Therefore, the traffic incident management agencies get informed fast resulting lower response time, which leads to decreased clearance time. This finding is consistent with the research work performed by (Hou, et al., 2014). This is very encouraging for the agency freeway service patrol and demonstrates how to appropriately measure the effectiveness of these programs. If crashes were analyzed with a simpler approach (for example, a

traditional *t*-test for incidents in the patrol area compared to incidents outside the patrol area), a potential omitted variable bias could lead to false conclusions. A holistic model appropriately includes all attributes as shown in this work.

Incident Analysis Conclusions

In the past, many research efforts have gone into staying incident clearance time. With the increasing use of highway service and assistance patrol, this paper is an extension to include additional information regarding these programs. This paper describes the analysis of the incident duration data of the state of Alabama highways during the period January 1, 2018 to December 31, 2018. Four different datasets were collected from CAPS, TMCs and ALDOT including ASAP area coverage information for the highways. A fully parametric hazard-based duration model has been analyzed and was demonstrated to be an appropriate methodology for this type of data. To address the heterogeneity problem, a Weibull model with gamma heterogeneity has been examined.

In this incident analysis, the model findings indicate that a total of seventeen variables significantly effects the incident clearance time. For this study, four groups of conclusions were found. First, for the incident characteristics, seven factors (fire, hazardous materials, commercial motor vehicle, fatality, number of driver(s), vehicle towed, and overturn) are found to be significantly associated with longer incident clearance time. Meanwhile, two variables (seat belt and on-road) tend to decrease the incident clearance time. Second, for the temporal group, both the variables (night and winter) are found to significantly influence the longer incident clearance time. Third, two factors (AADT and peak hour) in the traffic group, are identified to be significantly associated with shorter incident clearance time. Fourth, for the operational characteristics, the two factors (detection time and police involvement) are found to be associated with longer clearance time. The only variable (ASAP) tends to significantly decrease the incident clearance time.

It should be encouraging this point to see the beneficial impacts of Alabama's Highway Service and Assistance Patrol coverage. A next step should be to explore similar analyses in other states, perhaps with additional or alternative modelling frameworks. Also, changes with spatial coverage, operational hours, and/or the size and quantity of crews should be monitored and examined over time.

Project Conclusions

Crowdsourced probe data is rapidly becoming a viable dataset for a variety of transportation applications. Improvements over the traditional TMC 5-minute records continue to develop in the ways of shorter segments, travel patterns, and signal analytics. In the distant future, connected vehicle data will provide completely disaggregated probe data. For now, this data is a highly-scalable dataset that will help operators understand and assess how their systems are working.

For this project, an initial set of dashboards was developed. With data collection, storage, and retrieval procedures in place, additional dashboards could be developed according to agency needs and interests. As more data becomes available, combining datasets to gain more insight will help to provide further insights about travel patterns and operations. A few challenges certainly exist with combining information. First, the conflation process to combine data is extremely challenging. Whether the data needs to be combined in a GIS platform or through other linkages, this process is tedious and requires a high level of error checking. Once the data is combined, analyzing the data also requires careful approaches. Simply filtering incidents or crashes or other observations on a single variable (e.g. urban vs. rural or night vs. day) is insufficient compared to developing appropriate models. Storing the data is also quite challenging, both with the collection processes and the database size and management.

While all of these challenges were successfully mitigated in this research project, there are commercial products which may be better alternatives. The Iteris ClearGuide platform has much promise. The University of Maryland's / CATT Lab's RITIS platform is certainly a mature product. The maintenance bureau has been investigating these alternatives, and further exploration should be continued. The tradeoff between customized research project-oriented dashboards or more widely-available offerings from vendors will be an involved decision to make.

In the future, while additional transportation systems hardware will continue to be deployed, commercially available crowdsourced probe data will certainly augment any analyses or reports. The crash data and RTMC incident data will be key in providing independent variables to understand each incident on the roadways. Ultimately, combining all of this data with volume data to quantify the costs to travelers will help with benefit-cost ratios for programmatic and operational decisions.

References

- Alkaabi, A., Dissanayake, D., & Bird, R. (2011). Analyzing Clearance Time of Urban Traffic Accidents in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates, with Hazard-Based Duration Modeling Method. *Transportation Research Record*, 2229(1), 46-54.
- Alkaabi, A., Dissanayake, D., & Bird, R. (2012). Response Time of Highway Traffic Accidents in Abu Dhabi: Investigation with Hazard-Based Duration Models. *Transportation research record, 2278*(1), 95-103.
- Chung, Y. (2010). Development of an accident duration prediction model on the Korean Freeway Systems. Accident Analysis & Prevention, 42(1), 282-289.
- Day, C., McNamara, M. L., Li, H., Sakhare, R., Desai, J., Cox, E. D., . . . Bullock, D. M. (2016). 2015 Indiana Mobility report and performance measure dashboards. Indiana Mobility Reports, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN. doi:10.5703/1288284316352
- Ding, C., Ma, X., Wang, Y., & Wang, Y. (2015). Exploring the influential factors in incident clearance time: Disentangling causation from self-selection bias. *Accident Analysis and Prevention, 85*, 58-65.
- Drakopoulos, A., Shrestha, M. R., & Örnek, E. (2001). Freeway Crash Timeline Characteristics and Uses. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of Transport Research Board, 1748*(01), 132-143.
- Federal Highway Administration. (2017). National Performance Mangement Measures: Assessing Performance of the National Highway System, Freight Movement on the Interstate System, and Congestion Mitigation and Air Quality Improvement Program. Federal Highway Administration, Washington, D.C.
- Ghosh, I., Savolainen, P. T., & Gates, T. J. (2014). Examination of factors affecting freeway incident clearance times: a comparison of the generalized F model and several alternative nested models. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 48(6), 471-485.
- Hainen, A. M., Remias, S. M., Bullock, D. M., & Mannering, F. L. (2013). A hazard-based analysis of airport security transit times. *Journal of Air Transport Management, 32*, 32-38.
- Hensher, D. A., & Mannering, F. L. (1994). Hazard-based duration models and their application to transport analysis. *Transport Reviews*, 14(1), 63-82.
- Hojati, A. T., Ferreira, L., Washington, S., & Charles, P. (2013). Hazard based models for freeway traffic incident duration. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, *52*, 171-181.
- Hojati, A. T., Ferreiraa, L., Washington, S., Charles, P., & Shobeirinejad, A. (2014). Modelling total duration of traffic incidents including incident detection and recovery time. *Accident Analysis and Prevention*, *71*, 296-305.

- Hou, L., Lao, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., & Li, Z. (2013). Modeling freeway incident response time:
 A mechanism-based approach. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies, 28*, 87-100.
- Hou, L., Lao, Y., Wang, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, Y., & Zhiheng, L. (2014). Time-varying effects of influential factors on incident clearance time using a non-proportional hazard-based model. *Transportation research part A: policy and practice, 63*, 12-24.
- Jones, B., Janssen, L., & Mannering, F. (1991). Analysis of the frequency and duration of freeway accidents in Seattle. *Accident Analysis & Prevention*, 23(4), 239-255.
- Kashani, A. T., Shariat-Mohaymany, A., & Ranjbari, A. (2012). Analysis of factors associated with traffic injury severity on rural roads in Iran. *Journal of injury and violence research*, *4*(1), 36.
- Lee, J.-T., & Fazio, J. (2005). Influential factors in freeway crash response and clearance times by emergency management services in peak periods. *Traffic injury prevention*, 6(4), 331-339.
- Manual, H. C. (1994). TRB Special Report 209. Washington, D.C.: National Research Council.
- McNamara, M. L., Li, H., Remias, S., Richardson, L., Cox, E., Horton, D., & Bullock, D. M. (2015, December). Using Real-Time Probe Vehicle Data to Manage Unplanned Detour Routes. *ITE Journal*, 85(12), 32-37.
- McNamara, M. L., Sakhare, R., Li, H., Baldiwn, M., & Bullock, D. M. (2017, January 8-12,). Integrating Crowdsourced Probe Vehicle Traffic Speeds into Winter Operations Performance Measures. *Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting*.
- Nam, D., & Mannering, F. (2000). An exploratory hazard-based analysis of highway incident duration. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 34*(2), 85-102.
- Tang, J., Zheng, L., Han, C., Yin, W., Zhang, Y., Zou, Y., & Huang, H. (2020). Statistical and machine-learning methods for clearance time prediction of road incidents: A methodology review. *Analytic Methods in Accident Research, 27*, 100-123.
- U.S. Department of Transportation. Federal Highway Administration. (Dec 2008, December). Office of Operations. Retrieved July 25, 2016, from Traffic Incident Management Quick Clearence Laws. A National Review of Best Practices: http://www.ops.fhwa.dot.gov/publications/fhwahop09005/quick_clear_laws.pdf
- Washington, S. P., Karlaftis, M. G., & Mannering, F. L. (2011). *Statistical and Econometric Methods for Transportation Data Analysis* (Second Edition ed.). CRC Press.

Appendix A – Slides from FHWA EDC-5 Vehicle Probe Data Peer Exchange



Agenda – Alabama DOT Probe Data

- Procuring Data
 - INRIX 2014 \rightarrow HERE 2016
 - Statewide Mobility Report

• Processing and Managing Data

- Real-time XML storage
- TTI Conflation Process

• Using Data

1. Football Traffic Ticker (McNamara)

A

- 2. Tracking Incidents (Li)
- 3. Scoring incidents
- 4. I-10 Cost of Doing Nothing (ATI)
- 5. Signal Work (Not great...)
- Next Steps
 - Signal BSM (...but this is awesome!)
 - Inrix Signal Analytics?
 - ADT from Probe Data?

Section #1 – Procurement

FHWA Every Day Counts Round 5 - Crowdsourcing for Operations Program

A

Questions	Possible Response Elements
Vehicle probe data source	HERE
What facilities / how many miles?	All highways and major arterials
Purchasing real time data, only archived data, or both?	Real time since 2016
What is the duration of the commitment with the probe provider?	Annual with renewals
Have you used other sources in the past? Why switch?	Yes, INRIX for select counties. Price.
Any lessons on data procurement?	Difficult to switch platforms from one to another with proprietary data (HERE dynamic subsegments vs. INRIX XD)







Section #2 – Data Processing, Management, and Access

FHWA Every Day Counts Round 5 - Crowdsourcing for Operations Program

 \mathcal{A}

 \mathcal{A}

Questions	Possible Response Elements
Who processes the data?	Center for Advanced Public Safety
Who stores the data? Is the real- time data archived?	Center for Advanced Public Safety at the University of Alabama The real-time data is archived
What is your data verification process and scope? What have you found, what has changed over time?	 Some checks with intersection information Sensys SensMetrics and SensID (WiFi / Bluetooth) Blyncsy Bluetooth / WiFi
What technologies or tools are used?	University-developed storage. Dashboards discussed in next section.

Section #2 – Data Processing, Management, and Access

FHWA Every Day Counts Round 5 - Crowdsourcing for Operations Program

Questions	Possible Response Elements
What other data is integrated with vehicle probe data?	TMC operator data, Waze, crash data, signal data
Is the integration in real time post-processed?	Both
Are there processes in place to trace the "provenance" of processed data?	Logs of each insertion (one-minute)
Who can access the data?	State DOT, Local Agencies, Support contractors/consultants
Have you hosted any formal or informal training on use of the data?	We share peer-to-peer, we held workshops when the data became "live" and invited local agencies, etc.









Section #3 – Using the Vehicle Probe Data



FHWA Every Day Counts Round 5 - Crowdsourcing for Operations Program

Questions	Possible Response Elements
How are you using the data in real-time? Please describe what and its effectiveness and user feedback.	 Traveler information (web 511, travel time on DMS, etc.) [Yes] Traffic incident management (TIM) detection, back of queue, [Delta] Arterial management (dynamic signal progression) [RTOP] Road weather or work zone management [Winter Weather]
How are you using the archived data? Please describe what and its effectiveness and user feedback.	 Performance reporting (reliability, delay, etc.) [SPM / RTOP] Project prioritization (estimating cost of delay) [I-10] Modifying arterial management – need versus time-based retiming More complete before/after assessments [RTOP] Work zone planning or contract compliance [Smart Work Zone] Planning or simulation model verification [RTOP / Vissim]
How do you justify investment?	 Are there any reports/documents? [Mobility Report / Quarterlies] How was your agency able to overcome resistance to investment?





























		A	na	lyt	tic	al	Sc	or	in	g -	- S	pe	ed D	iffe	erent	ia		1il	e H	ю	ur	S	tim				\mathcal{A}	
		A	aai	ng	ц	0 e	ac	ns	eg	me	:nt	spe	eea a	IJе	rentio	ן וג	Or	ea	СП	un	110	Ŋ	UIII	ie				
					1																2						3	4
																											Speed Differential	Speed Differential
	Mile\Time	00:0	:01	:02	:03	:04	:05	90:0	:07	:08	60:0	:10		мі	ile\Time	00:0	:01	:02	:03	:04	:05	90:0	:07	:08	60:0	:10	Mile Minutes	Mile Hours
	110	70	6 C	5 rach	Time	5	70	70	70	70	70	70			110	0	5	5	0	6	5	0	0	0	6	6	initiates	110415
	109	70		Locat	tion	-	70	70	70	70	70	70			109		(m_i)	(t_i)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	
ts	108	70	70	60	50	30	25	25	60	70	70	70			108	0	0	10	20	40	45	45	10	0	0	0	170	2.83
ua	107	70	70	60	55	50	30	25	45	65	70	70			107	0	0	10	15	20	40	45	25	5	0	0	160	2.67
id	106	70	70	70	60	55	45	30	35	65	70	70			106	0	0	0	10	15	25	40	35	5	0	0	130	2.17
10	105	70	70	70	70	60	50	45	30	65	70	70			105	0	0	0	0	10	20	25	40	5	0	0	100	1.67
-	104	70	70	70	70	65	55	50	40	35	60	70			104	0	0	0	0	5	15	20	30	35	10	0	115	1.92
бu	103	70	70	70	70	70	60	60	50	45	60	70			103	0	0	0	0	0	10	10	20	25	10	0	75	1.25
rii	102	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	55	65	65	70			102		0	0	0	0	0	0	15	5	5	0	25	0.42
8	101	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	65	70			101	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	L.	5	0	5	0.08
S	100	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70	70			100	0	0	0	0	0	0	(1	m_f, t	(f)	0	0		
ŝ																	Inc	iden	t To	tal S	peed	l Di	ffere	ntial	Mil	le	780	13
#	e	oam	ont	S.	aad	a	filo		Ц	·					Dro	n i 1			i a	filo	. D O	т П	[0]]	•			Minutes	Hours
d	is Su	egm umila	СПС Л еа	op ch n	eeu ม่มม	te m	ште: wr 1	s pe -mil	л П 2 520	noui mon) ts				DIO	рп	ւթի	Jeet	I (IV	шe;	s pe	п	loui)			5	6
t		pie							. ".s																			
S																												
Se																												
G																												
<u> </u>			_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_					_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	_			

MACLOOM.	+6	in in	~	wich	data	cot t		- with	h rearrande to peop	bility
IVIC LOG:	ιn	15 15	a very	ncn	aata	selli	o explore	e with	regards to mo	DIIILY
		C. Sililis	New: 1	tap Viewer	MultiViewe	r List Libr	ary Inventory Vide		Reporting Alarm Administration Pro	ta .
1	Type	ID 18757	 Type Abandoned Vehicle 	Start Time 08/24/2017 08:41	End Time 08/25/2013 09:41	Road Type Interstate	Location I-20/59 W at Bama Rock Garden	County Tuscaloos	a Confirmed	
A	1	18756	Bridge Repair Inspection	/ 08/24/2017 08:00	08/24/2013 14:00	' Interstate	1-20/59 W at Holly Springs Road/SR 30 to 1-20/59 W at Hol Springs Road/SR 30	Tuscaloosi 0 ly 0	a Confirmed	
none	٨	18755	Bridge Repair Inspection	/ 08/24/2017 07:30	08/24/2017 16:00	Interstate	1-65 S before CR 28 Lake Mitchell Rd to 1 65 S before CR 28 Lake Mitchell Rd	; Chilton	Confirmed	
-	1	18750	Resurfacing or Paving	08/23/2017 08:00	08/24/2017 16:00	U.S. Highwa	US 43 N past Shiver De Freeze Rd/Dough Rd to US 43 N before Fulmer Rd	Tuscaloosa ty	Confirmed	
Const	1	18727	Bridge Repair, Inspection	08/21/2017 08:00	08/31/2017 16:00	Interstate	I-20/59 E at Universi Blvd/US 11/SR 7 to I- 20/59 E before Keenes Mill Rd	ty Tuscaloosa	Confirmed	
-	4	18726	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 10:44	11/30/2018 11:44	Interstate	1-65 S before CR 42 t 1-65 S past CR 42	o Chilton	Confirmed	
	1	18725	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 08:00	08/31/2017 16:00	Interstate	I-20/59 E at Skyland Blvd to I-20/59 E at University Blvd/US 11/5R 7	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed	
	4	18724	Resurfacing or Paving	08/21/2017 08:00	01/01/2018 16:00	U.S. Highway	US 31 N before CR 44 to US 31 N before CR	Chilton	Confirmed	
1 40	12	18563	Strong Winds	07/29/2017	07/29/2018		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed	
	٤	18554	Resurfacing or Paving	07/26/2017 07:00	09/30/2017 17:30	Interstate	1-20/59 W at Exit 68: Joe Mallisham Pkwy to 1-20/59 W at Holly Springs Road/SR 300	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed	
	4	18544	Resurfacing or Paving	07/28/2017 06:00	10/31/2017 06:00	Interstate	1-20/59 W at Exit 62 : Holly Springs Rd/SR 300 to 1-20/59 W before Exit 52 US 11/CR 201	Tuscaloosa	Confirmed	
	1	18456	Resurfacing or Paving	07/17/2017 07:00	09/01/2017 18:00	U.S. Highway	US 82 EW before SR 5 to US 82 EW past SR 25/Montevalle Rd	Bibb	Confirmed	
	199	18265	Strong Winds	06/21/2017	06/21/2018		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed	
	100	18262	Strong Winds	06/21/2017	06/21/2018		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed	
	199	18164	Strong Winds	05/23/2017	05/23/2018		E at Montgomery	Montgomery	Unconfirmed	
14	198	18142	Strong Winds	05/22/2017	05/22/2018		E at Ft. Payne	DeKalb	Unconfirmed	
3	10	18078	Strong Winds	05/01/2017	05/01/2018		E at Decatur /	torgan	Unconfirmed	
	10	18069	Strong Winds	04/30/2017	04/30/2018		E at Demopolis	late		



SDMH Parameters	SDMH Parameters
Data is available from 2019-04-24 10:13:00	Data is available from 2019-04-24 10:13:00
Sequence ID	Sequence ID
Start Date/Time	Start Date/Time 2019-09-12 08:00:00
End Date/Time	End Date/Time 13?
Start Mile	Start Mile 16
End Mile	End Mile 38
Resolution	Resolution 1 minute

Sar Sco	mp res	ole of Extr for Each I	racted Data for Rea ncident → Link to Cro	sea 1sh /	rchers / Respo	s onse	Att	ribu	ites (1	TIMS)	\mathcal{A}
Column	Row	Timestamp	Segment	Route	Direction	Speed	FFS	SD	From	То	Length
1	1	9/12/2019 08:00:00	US-90/AL-16/Government Blvd/Exit 15	I-10	Eastbound	74.47	70.03	0	16	16.00023	0.00023
1	2	9/12/2019 08:00:00	AL-193/Rangeline Rd/Exit 17	I-10	Eastbound	67.69	69.73	2.04	16.00023	16.33723	0.337
1	3	9/12/2019 08:00:00	AL-193/Rangeline Rd/Exit 17	I-10	Eastbound	36.96	65.24	28.28	16.33723	17.65906	1.32183
1	4	9/12/2019 08:00:00	I-65/Exit 20	I-10	Eastbound	31.75	65.06	33.31	17.65907	18.91788	1.25881
1	5	9/12/2019 08:00:00	I-65/Exit 20	I-10	Eastbound	61.94	59.83	0	18.91788	20.75878	1.8409
1	6	9/12/2019 08:00:00	AL-163/Dauphin Island Pky/Exit 22	I-10	Eastbound	75.16	64	0	20.7588	22.52957	1.77078
1	7	9/12/2019 08:00:00	Michigan Ave/Exit 23	I-10	Eastbound	71	65.24	0	22.52957	23.50989	0.98032
1	8	9/12/2019 08:00:00	Duval St/Exit 24	I-10	Eastbound	70.86	65	0	23.50989	24.0385	0.5286
1	9	9/12/2019 08:00:00	S Broad St/Exit 24	I-10	Eastbound	71.71	65	0	24.0385	24.86102	0.82252
1	10	9/12/2019 08:00:00	Virginia St/Exit 25	I-10	Eastbound	68.24	64.75	0	24.86102	25.56456	0.70354
1	11	9/12/2019 08:00:00	Texas St/Exit 25	I-10	Eastbound	58.65	59.09	0.44	25.56456	26.08946	0.52491
1	12	9/12/2019 08:00:00	Canal St/S Water St/Exit 26	I-10	Eastbound	52.29	53.75	1.46	26.08946	26.74826	0.65879
1	13	9/12/2019 08:00:00	George C Wallace Tunl	I-10	Eastbound	47.74	50.95	3.21	26.74826	27.46795	0.71969
1	14	9/12/2019 08:00:00	US-90/Spanish Fort Blvd/Exit 27	I-10	Eastbound	52.21	53.75	1.54	27.46795	27.89111	0.42317
1	15	9/12/2019 08:00:00	US-90/US-98/Battleship Pky/Exit 30	I-10	Eastbound	67.24	65.24	0	27.89111	30.49135	2.60024
1	16	9/12/2019 08:00:00	US-90/US-98/Exit 35	I-10	Eastbound	68.57	65.43	0	30.49135	35.68053	5.18918
1	17	9/12/2019 08:00:00	AL-181/Exit 38	I-10	Eastbound	63.65	69.59	5.94	35.68053	38	2.31947
2	1	9/12/2019 08:01:00	US-90/AL-16/Government Blvd/Exit 15	I-10	Eastbound	73.31	70.03	0	16	16.00023	0.00023
2	2	9/12/2019 08:01:00	AL-193/Rangeline Rd/Exit 17	I-10	Eastbound	67.69	69.73	2.04	16.00023	16.33723	0.337
2	3	9/12/2019 08:01:00	AL-193/Rangeline Rd/Exit 17	I-10	Eastbound	34.8	65.24	30.44	16.33723	17.65906	1.32183
2	4	9/12/2019 08:01:00	I-65/Exit 20	I-10	Eastbound	33.28	65.06	31.78	17.65907	18.91788	1.25881
2	5	9/12/2019 08:01:00	I-65/Exit 20	I-10	Eastbound	57.72	59.83	2.11	18.91788	20.75878	1.8409
2	6	9/12/2019 08:01:00	AL-163/Dauphin Island Pky/Exit 22	I-10	Eastbound	74.25	64	0	20.7588	22.52957	1.77078
2	7	9/12/2019 08:01:00	Michigan Ave/Exit 23	I-10	Eastbound	76.75	65.24	0	22.52957	23.50989	0.98032
2	8	9/12/2019 08:01:00	Duval St/Exit 24	I-10	Eastbound	74.84	65	0	23.50989	24.0385	0.5286
2	9	9/12/2019 08:01:00	S Broad St/Exit 24	I-10	Eastbound	72.14	65	0	24.0385	24.86102	0.82252
2	10	9/12/2019 08:01:00	Virginia St/Exit 25	I-10	Fastbound	67.09	64.75	0	24.86102	25.56456	0.70354





	Establish Rou	tes	to	Identify	TMCs	(Easie	est Way)				
Route SW	Region I-10 Alabama	1								Route I-10	W
Current Loca	ation									Current Loca	tion
+ - Pascagoula	Amore Bay Mette Bobie Bobie Robie Bay Foley Pensacola		oute D	Route Name SW Region I-10 Urban	 Description I-10 from Exit I5A (Theodore Dawes) to Exit X4181 in 	Road Type Freeway	Tags i-10, interstate, mobile, sw region, urban	Owner Shared Routes	Length (mi)	+ - Pascagoula	Altrore Bay Minette Mobile Bay Foley Pensacola
Ste	Leaflet © HERE			SW Region I-10	Malbis) I-10 from	Freeway	i-10, interstate,	Shared	44		Leaflet © HERE
Maps <u>3rd Party</u>				Alabama	Florida	Freeway	sw region	Routes	00	Maps <u>3rd Party</u>	
Route Prope	rties			SW Region I-10	I-10 EB from		i-10, interstate.			Route Proper	ties
Route ID	22	\leftarrow	162	EB Rangeline Congestion	Exit 17 Rangeline Road	Freeway	sw region, urban	Routes	2.8	> Route ID	382
Length	66.03 mi				to Exit 20 1-65					Length	66.29 mi
Speed Limit	68.1 mph		382	2 I-10 W	I-10 W from Florida to	Freeway	i-10	My Routes	66.3	Speed Limit	68.1 mph
Freeflow Spee	d 67.1 mph				Mississippi	200.200MA0/A		A MUSICANS.		Freeflow Speed	1 67.6 mph
Roadway Type	Freeway	- T								Roadway Type	Freeway
Description	Florida									Description	Mississippi
Tags	i-10, interstate, sw region									Tags	i-10
Added	10 Sep 2015									Added	17 Jul 2018
Added By	Jeremy Borden									Added By	Alex Hainen
Route Start	09 Sep 2015									Route Start	31 Dec 2017
Last Modified	11 Oct 2018									Last Modified	11 Oct 2018

I-10 Mol	oil	e Bay	River B	ridge – List of	TMCs		Ā
Those are	+6		onte the	at will be queries	l from t	ha archiva	• •
These ure	UT	ie segin	ents th	at will be queried	μοπι	ne urchive	
	ſ	Sequenceld S	equenceOrder	Exits	MeasureFrom	MeasureTo TMC	
		1	5	Exit 17A-B: TILLMAN'S CORNER	16.000231	17.659074 102+08361	
_		1	6	Exit 20: MONTGOMERY	17.659074	20.758795 102+08362	
0		1	7	Exit 22: DAUPHIN ISLAND PKWY	20.758795	22.529573 102+08363	
- E		1	8	Exit 23: MICHIGAN AVE	22.529573	23.509894 102+08364	
£		1	9	Exit 24: DUVAL ST	23.509894	24.038498 102+08365	
õ	P	1	10	Exit 24: BROAD ST	24.038498	24.861023 102+08366	
2	20 M	1	11	Exit 25: VIRGINIA ST	24.861023	25.564559 102+08367	
0	st	1	12	Exit 25: TEXAS ST	25.564559	26.089464 102+08368	
2	۳ ۳	1	13	Exit 26A: CANALST	26.089464	26.748255 102+08369	
0		1	14	Exit 26B: WATER ST	26.748255	27.467945 102+08370	
Q		1	15	Exit 27: BATTLESHIP PKWY	27.467945	27.891111 102+08371	
5		1	16	Exit 30: BATTLESHIP PARKWAY	27.891111	30.491349 102+08372	
0		1	17	Exit 35A-B: DAPHNE/FAIRHOPE	30.491349	35.680529 102+08373	
st		1	18	Exit 38: SPANISH FORT	35.680529	38.971172 102+08374	
, o		2	5	Exit 35A-B: DAPHNE/FAIRHOPE	38.515901	35.209055 102-08373	
0		2	6	Exit 30: BATTLESHIP PARKWAY	35.209055	30.085346 102-08372	
0		2	7	Exit 27: BATTLESHIP PKWY	30.085346	27.647372 102-08371	
4		2	8	Exit 26B: WATER ST	27.647372	26.878742 102-08370	
		2	9	Exit 26A: CANALST	26.878742	26.240351 102-08369	
4		2	10	Exit 25: TEXAS ST	26.240351	25.827691 102-08368	
#	Bo	2	11	Exit 25: VIRGINIA ST	25.827691	25.386322 102-08367	
2	est	2	12	Exit 24: BROAD ST	25.386322	24.469689 102-08366	
9	3	2	13	Exit 24: DUVAL ST	24.469689	23.761419 102-08365	
17 () ()		2	14	Exit 23: MICHIGAN AVE	23.761419	23.180186 102-08364	
S		2	15	Exit 22: DAUPHIN ISLAND PKWY	23.180186	22.033638 102-08363	
Se		2	16	Exit 20: MONTGOMERY	22.033638	19.908824 102-08362	
ö		2	17	Exit 17A-B: TILLMAN'S CORNER	19.908824	16.637577 102-08361	
Ú		2	18	Exit 15B: TILLMAN'S CORNER	16.637577	15.428619 102-08360	









	l-10 Mobi	le Bay R	liver Brid	dge – Q	JERY #4: D	elay Veh-	Hrs 🔏	
	Each 525,60	00 minute	es, delay	is multipl	ied by 1-mir	count for a	lelay (vehhrs)	
	tripStart	tripEnd	delay	tstamp	tunnel_count	vehhrs	tt	
	16:55	17:19	0.083	00:00.0	44.167	3.681	24:00.0	
ing	16:56	17:20	0.083	00:00.0	44.167	3.681	24:00.0	
oth	16:57	17:20	0.067	00:00.0	44.167	2.944	23:00.0	
Nc	16:58	17:21	0.067	00:00.0	44.167	2.944	23:00.0	
bu	16:59	17:22	0.067	00:00.0	44.167	2.944	23:00.0	
ioC	17:00	17:23	0.067	00:00.0	46.383	3.092	23:00.0	
of I	17:01	17:24	0.067	00:00.0	46.383	3.092	23:00.0	
st e	17:02	17:25	0.067	00:00.0	46.383	3.092	23:00.0	
Co	17:03	17:25	0.050	00:00.0	46.383	2.319	22:00.0	
10	17:04	17:26	0.050	00:00.0	46.383	2.319	22:00.0	
-1 -2	17:05	17:28	0.067	00:00.0	46.383	3.092	23:00.0	
t #	17:06	17:34	0.150	00:00.0	46.383	6.957	28:00.0	
dy	17:07	17:33	0.117	00:00.0	46.383	5.411	26:00.0	
Stu	17:08	17:35	0.133	00:00.0	46.383	6.184	27:00.0	
se	17:09	17:36	0.133	00:00.0	46.383	6.184	27:00.0	
Ca	17:10	17:39	0.167	00:00.0	46.383	7.731	29:00.0	



I-10 Mobile Bay River Bridge – Results (NOAA Discount)

 \mathcal{A}

Cost of Doing Nothing: \$670M - \$1.2B with 3% discount























				Ev	ven	t De	tail		
				Eve	ent II	D: 102	5287		
Time			В	lockag	e				
02/04/2019 08:49		LS	MN	MN	MN	RS			
EVENT SEVERITY							1		
Severity	Modified D						Modified By		
High		02/0	02/04/2019 08:49				Jordan Foster		
NO RESPONSE PLA	N								
COMMENT									
Time Operator			Comment						
02/04/2019 08:49	04/2019 08:49 Jordan Foster			two SUVs. Minor fender bender but are sitting beside each other blocking 2 lanes. AST just pulled up on it.					
02/04/2019 08:52	02/04/2019 08:52 Jordan Foster			pulled into p'lot					







